
Meeting Locat ion:

Capitol  Event Center, 

1020 11th Street,  2nd Floor,  Sacramento

(800) 867-2581 code: 7500508#

CSAC EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

BRIEFING MATERIALS
Thursday, August 2, 2018

10:00 a.m - 1:30 p.m 

Cal i fo rn ia  S ta te 

Assoc ia t ion  o f  Count ies



CALIFORNIA STATE ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

Thursday August 2, 2018 
10:00 AM – 1:30 PM 

Capitol Event Center | 1020 11th Street, 2nd Floor  
(800) 867-2581 code: 7500508# 

 

AGENDA 

Presiding: Leticia Perez, President 

10:00AM 
 

PROCEDURAL ITEMS 
1. Roll Call 

 

2. Approval of Minutes  from May 2, 2018 Meeting 
 

SPECIAL PRESENTATION 
3. Wildfire Liability Issue 

 Bruce Goldstein | Sonoma County Counsel 

 President, County Counsels’ Association of California 
 Senator Bill Dodd | Co-Chair, Conference Committee on Wildfire Preparedness 

& Response (Invited) 
 Assemblymember Chris Holden | Co-Chair, Conference Committee on Wildfire 

Preparedness & Response (Invited)  
 

ACTION ITEMS 
4. Water Bond Initiative 

 Matteo Crow | Yes on 3 California Water Bond 2018 Campaign Coordinator 
 Darby Kernan |  Deputy Executive Director, Legislative Services 

 

5. Proposition 5 
 Financial Contribution 

 Graham Knaus – Executive Director 
 

INFORMATION ITEMS 
6. New CSAC Staff Introductions 

 

7. CSAC Finance Corporation Update 
 Supervisor Leonard Moty – President, CSAC FC 
 Alan Fernandes – Chief Executive Officer, CSAC FC 

 

8. CSAC Legislative Update 
 Darby Kernan – Deputy Executive Director, Legislative Services 

 

9. CSAC Operations & Member Services Update 
 David Liebler – Director of Public Affairs & Member Services 

 

10. California Counties Foundation Update 
 Chastity Benson – Foundation Operations Manager 

 

11. Information Items (No Presentation) 
 CSAC Litigation Coordination Program Report 
 CSAC Institute Class Schedule 

 

12. Other Items 

 
Page 1 

 

Page 2 
 

 
Page 4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Page 9 

 
 
 
 

Page 13 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 17 
 
 
 

Page 19 
 
 

Page 25 
 
 

Page 27 
 
 

Page 30 

 

1:30 PM 
 

ADJOURN 
Note: The next CSAC Executive Committee meeting is October 3-5, in Monterey County. 

 

 



1 | P a g e  
 

CALIFORNIA STATE ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

2018 
 
 
 

President:    Leticia Perez, Kern 
1st Vice President:   Virginia Bass, Humboldt 
2nd Vice President:   Lisa Bartlett, Orange 
Immed. Past President:   Keith Carson, Alameda 
 
 
Urban Section 
Scott Haggerty, Alameda 
Buddy Mendes, Fresno 
Mark Ridley-Thomas, Los Angeles 
James Ramos, San Bernardino 
Carole Groom, San Mateo 
Kelly Long, Ventura 
Chuck Washington, Riverside (alternate) 
  
 
Suburban Section 
Bruce McPherson, Santa Cruz 
Leonard Moty, Shasta 
Steve Worthley, Tulare 
James Gore, Sonoma (alternate)  
 
 
Rural Section 
Ed Scofield, Nevada 
Lee Adams, Sierra 
Craig Pedersen (alternate) 
 
 
Ex Officio Member 
Ed Valenzuela, Siskiyou, Treasurer 
 
 
Advisors 
Bruce Goldstein, County Counsels Association President, Sonoma 
Larry Lees, California Association of County Executives (CACE) President, Shasta 
 
 

As of 12/18/17 
 
 
 



2 | P a g e  
 

 

CALIFORNIA STATE ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

May 2, 2018 
via conference call (800) 867-2581 code: 7500508# 

 

M I N U T E S 

 
1. Roll Call 

Leticia Perez, President   James Gore, Sonoma 
Virginia Bass, 1st Vice Pres.   Ed Scofield, Nevada 
Scott Haggerty, Alameda   Lee Adams, Sierra 
Buddy Mendes, Fresno   Bruce Goldstein, Co. Counsel Advisor 
Mark Ridley-Thomas, Los Angeles  Larry Lees, CACE Advisor 
James Ramos, San Bernardino  Graham Knaus, CSAC Staff 
Carole Groom, San Mateo   Darby Kernan, CSAC Staff 
Kelly Long, Ventura 

 
2. Approval of Minutes 

The minutes of April 5, 2018 were approved as previously mailed. 

 
3. June/November Ballot Initiatives 

People’s Initiative to Protect Proposition 13 Savings.  Staff outlined the measure which seeks to 

change the parameters for base year value tax transfers by expanding the program in several ways.  

For counties, this could dramatically change residential property reassessments, creating annual 

revenue losses for counties in the tens of millions of dollars.  The CSAC Government Finance and 

Administration Policy Committee recommended an ‘Oppose’ position. 

 

Motion and second to ‘Oppose’ People’s Initiative to Protect Proposition 13 Savings.  San 

Bernardino County abstained.  Motion carried. 

 

Tax Fairness, Transparency and Accountability Act of 2018.  Staff outlined the initiative that seeks 

to inhibit the ability of local governments to generate new revenues through taxes and fees.  It 

does so by amending both Proposition 26 and Proposition 218, and requiring supermajority voter 

approval on any new fee or tax, or the extension of an existing tax.  Eric Miethke from Capitol Law 

and Policy Inc. spoke in favor of the initiative.  Dan Carrigg from the League of California Cities 

spoke against it.  The CSAC Government Finance and Administration Policy Committee 

recommended an ‘Oppose’ position. 

 

Motion and second to ‘Oppose’ Tax Fairness, Transparency and Accountability Act of 2018.  

Motion carried unanimously. 

 

Proposition 68: Parks, Environment and Water Bond.  Staff outlined the measure which is a $4 

billion parks, environment and water bond that will appear on the June 2018 ballot.  There is a 



3 | P a g e  
 

significant focus in the proposed allocations of this bond to provide funding to “park-poor” and 

disadvantaged communities.  The Bond defines “disadvantaged community” as a community with a 

median household income less than 80 percent of the statewide average.  It also includes 

allocations for $18 million for improvements to county fairgrounds and $30 million for counties and 

regional park districts to make park improvements. Mary Creasman from Trust of Public Lands, 

spoke in favor of the initiative.  No opponent was available. The CSAC Agriculture Environment and 

Natural Resources Policy committee recommended ‘No Position’.  The policy committee cited lack 

of adequate funding for counties as a concern.  Also, there is a larger water bond expected to 

qualify for the November ballot that would include a larger allocation of funding for water projects. 

 

Motion and second to take ‘No Position’ on Proposition 68.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

It was noted that this initiative will not move forward to the Board of Directors since no position 

was taken. 

 

SB 3: Veterans and Affordable Housing Bond Act of 2018.  Staff outlined the measure which would 

provide $3 billion to provide funding to build new affordable rental units, support infill 

infrastructure, build farmworker housing, provide home ownership opportunities for both veterans 

and the general public, and allocate matching funds to local government that generate funding to 

address local housing challenges.  David Koenig with the California Housing Consortium spoke in 

favor of the initiative and David Wolfe with Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association spoke against it.  

The CSAC Housing, land Use and Transportation Policy Committee recommended a ‘Support’ 

position. 

 

Motion and second to support the Veterans and Affordable Housing Bond Act of 2018.  

Motion carried unanimously. 

 
4. Other Items 

Staff reported that the SB 1 Repeal campaign has submitted signatures to the Secretary of State.  

CSAC is working with consultants to plan press conferences throughout the state in opposition of 

the effort. 

 

Form 990 was sent out and approved by the Executive Committee in May. 

 

Meeting adjourned. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



4 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

                          
July 10, 2018  
  
The Honorable Edmund G. Brown, Jr.  
Governor, State of California  
State Capitol Building, First Floor  
Sacramento, California 95814 
 
Honorable Bill Dodd  
California State Senate  
Co-Chair, Conference Committee on Wildfire Preparedness and Response   
State Capitol, Room 5064  
Sacramento, CA 95814  
 
Honorable Chris Holden  
California State Assembly  
Co-Chair, Conference Committee on Wildfire Preparedness and Response   
State Capitol, Room 5132  
Sacramento, CA 95814  
 
 
Re: Wildfire Preparedness & Response Conference Committee  
  
Dear Governor Brown and Conference Committee Members:   
  
As we enter full force into another wildfire season, we appreciate your focus on wildfire preparedness 
with the establishment of a Wildfire Preparedness and Response Conference Committee. Local 
governments across California have long been at the forefront of this issue with the trends of increasing 
wildfire severity and our growing tree mortality crisis in California. Cities and counties across the state 
have been impacted by wildfire and are responding, adapting and becoming more resilient to these 
disasters through enhanced planning and emergency preparedness efforts.    
  
Our organizations strongly support the call to action to strengthen our fire prevention activities and 
become more resilient as a state to the increased threat of wildfire. We stand ready to work the 
Legislature and the Administration to address the root causes of the growing threat of catastrophic 
wildfire. We strongly support the Governor’s May 2018 Executive Order to combat dangerous tree 
mortality, increase the ability of our forests to capture carbon, and systematically improve forest 
management. Climate change alone is not causing these fires, and we strongly believe that we are not 
helpless to change the intensity of these events and become more resilient to them.   
  
We are encouraged to see this Committee focused on how utilities can also strengthen policies to 
protect against wildfire and other natural disasters, including updating and enhancing policies around 

 
   



5 | P a g e  
 

vegetation management, infrastructure maintenance and resiliency, and safety and emergency 
preparedness plans. However, we must express our strong concerns about potential efforts to revise 
constitutional protections under the “inverse condemnation” laws and long-standing liability statutes 
related to the causes of wildfires.   
  
For decades, local governments could rely on the law and the courts to make cities and counties, and 
their constituents and businesses, whole after a disaster caused by a utility. Inverse condemnation is 
protected by our state’s constitution as the flip side of eminent domain, the process by which a 
government agency can take property for public benefit as long as the property owner is adequately 
compensated. The inverse means that if property is damaged by a public benefit (i.e. providing 
electricity), damages can be sought and awarded. The power of eminent domain, along with the 
potential for inverse condemnation damages, has been extended by the courts and subsequently the 
Legislature to private utilities. Thus, a utility can’t enjoy the power of eminent domain without also 
bearing the risk of liability in inverse condemnation if its actions damage property.   
  
This legal standard is critically important for several reasons. First, we believe inverse condemnation 
works to provide a strong incentive for utilities to take action and invest in critical safety and resiliency 
measures to protect the ratepayers and residents of the areas we collectively serve.  Second, local 
governments and private citizens use inverse condemnation as a legal standing to bring large, well-
funded utilities to the table to settle for damages rather than languish in court under negligence suits. 
Utilities can be held liable under negligence claims, and often are. However, as result of the standing 
under inverse condemnation liability applicable to wildfires started by utility companies, utilities are 
more likely to settle large fire-related litigation rather than seek a judgment in court.  We strongly 
believe our liability laws level the playing field, bringing billion-dollar companies to the table with less-
powerful victims.   
  
Furthermore, the utilities describe inverse condemnation as “no-fault” liability. This is not the case. If a 
utility’s equipment was the cause of a fire, liability can be assigned under inverse condemnation even if 
the utility acted reasonably and prudently. However, that liability can be transferred to their rate 
payers if the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) determines that the utility did, in fact, act 
reasonably. Thus, this legal tool provides a strong incentive for utilities to invest in safety while still 
providing them the ability to spread the cost to rate payers.   
  
Even if changes to inverse condemnation are not retroactive, we strongly believe that any prospective 
changes to liability laws undertaken in response to one set of fires will have a lasting impact on current 
and future events and our ability to be made whole after disasters. CAL Fire officials have determined 
that 16 of the 2017 fires were caused by utility equipment, and 11 of those cases have been referred to 
prosecutors for criminal investigation. We, therefore, believe it is highly inappropriate to suggest 
changes to liability laws without first fully examining safety requirements and standards. We strongly 
urge you to resist the request to change the rules for the utilities.  
  
Local governments stand ready to partner with the Administration and this Committee to reduce the 
risk of wildfire and establish policies that improve the safety of our communities. We look forward to 
working with you on the critical issue.    
 



6 | P a g e  
 

Sincerely,  

       
      
Graham Knaus            Paul Smith  
Executive Director          Vice President of Government Affairs  
California State Association of Counties      Rural County Representatives of 
California   
 
 

      
 
Carolyn Coleman         Jolena Voorhis       
Executive Director          Executive Director  
League of CA Cities           Urban Counties of California  
         
 
 
         
      
  
Cc:  Honorable Speaker Anthony Rendon, California State Assembly  
  Honorable President pro Tempore, Toni Atkins, California State Senate  
  Honorable Members, Conference Committee on Wildfire Preparedness and Response  
  Honorable Members, California State Assembly  

Honorable Members, California State Senate   
  Office of Governor Brown, Camille Wagner, Legislative Affairs Secretary   
  Office of Governor Brown, Catalina Hayes-Bautista, Deputy Legislative Secretary   
  Gabrielle Zeps, Chief Policy Consultant, Office of Speaker Anthony Rendon   
  Kip Lipper, Chief Policy Advisor, Office of President pro Tempore Toni Atkins   
   

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



7 | P a g e  
 

 



8 | P a g e  
 

 



9 | P a g e  
 

 
 
August 2, 2018 

 
To:   CSAC Executive Committee 
  
From:  Cara Martinson, CSAC Senior Legislative Representative & Federal Affairs Manager,  

       Nick Cronenwett, CSAC Legislative Analyst 
 

RE:   Proposition 3: Water Supply and Water Quality Bond Act of 2018   

Summary: The Water Supply and Water Quality Bond Act of 2018 is an $8.8 billion water bond which 
has qualified for the November 2018 statewide ballot as Proposition 3. A majority yes vote on the 
Proposition would require the state to issue $8.8 billion in general obligation bonds to finance a variety 
of water related projects, including watershed restoration, fish and waterfowl habitat improvement, 
safe drinking water, and repair of the Friant Kern Canal. This measure provides additional and needed 
funding for critical programs, including the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SMGA), 
stormwater, forest health and watershed improvements and other areas of importance to counties. 
This measure received a support recommendation from the Agriculture Environment, and Natural 
Resources (AENR) Committee during the CSAC Legislative Conference on May 17th.  

 
Background. California continues to experience ongoing drought conditions in many parts of the state. 
To help the state plan and manage its water and infrastructure needs, the Department of Water 
Resources maintains California’s Water Action Plan. The plan, updated every five years, lays out a 
roadmap for sustainable water management in California. The broad goals of the plan include 
developing more reliable water supplies, the restoration of important species and habitat, and 
developing a more resilient, sustainably managed water resources systems. In addition, California is in 
the beginning stages of implementing the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act. Groundwater 
Sustainability Agencies are in the process of developing their plans to better manage and maximize 
groundwater resources throughout the state. To fund these and other water priorities, California has a 
long tradition of utilizing both general obligation bonds (which require voter approval) and revenue-use 
bonds.  

 
Initiative Summary. The following is a summary of the proposed bond. The primary investment 
categories include: $2.355 billion for watershed protection and restorations; $750 million for 
improvements in safe drinking water; $750 million for repairs to the Friant Kern Canal; and, $675 
million for improving groundwater sustainability and storage. In addition, the bond also includes $400 
million exclusively for counties and cities for projects to use stormwater and urban dry weather run-off 
in disadvantaged communities. There is an explicit prohibition on the use of any funds from the bond 
measure for any purposes of the Delta conveyance tunnels.   

 
In addition, the bond includes language that would create several continuous appropriations from the 
state’s Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund (GGRF) to the Department of Water Resources (DWR) and 
several specified water agencies, including Metropolitan Water District of Southern California, the 
Contra Costa Water District, and Sun Luis and Delta Mendota Water Authority. Funding dedicated to 
DWR would be directed to programs in the State Water Resources Development System and consumer 
water conservation programs. Allocations to the three water agencies are commensurate with their 
current fees to GGRF, and would be dedicated to specific purposes, including water storage, treatment, 
conveyance, and water conservation programs. Funds allocated to the Contra Costa Water District must 



10 | P a g e  
 

be spent on consumer water conversation programs while funds allocated to the San Luis Authority 
must be spent on water conservation, water quality improvement, water treatment, water supply. 

 

Fund Description Details 
Allocation 
(Millions) 

Safe Drinking Water and 
Wastewater Treatment for 
Disadvantaged Communities 

Safe drinking water and wastewater treatment for 
disadvantaged communities, especially in the Central 
Valley. 

$750 

Wastewater Recycling 
Recycling wastewater mainly for landscaping and 
industrial uses. 

$400 

Groundwater Desalination Converts salty groundwater to usable water supply. $400 

Urban Water Conservation 
Funds for leak detection, toilet replacement, 
landscape conversion. 

$300 

Agricultural Water Conservation 
Improves inefficient irrigation systems, increasing 
river flows. 

$50 

Central Valley Flood 
Management and Flood Plain 
Restoration 

Improves flood safety in the Central Valley and 
makes flood plains more habitat friendly.  $200 

SF Bay Wetlands and Flood 
Improvements 

Improves wetlands in San Francisco Bay to provide 
flood protection and mitigate sea level rise. 

$200 

Water Data Management 
Funds improvements in water data collection and 
management including stream flows 

$60 

Stormwater Management 

Funds projects that capture and use urban dry 
weather runoff and stormwater runoff in 
disadvantaged or severally disadvantaged 
communities. Includes requirement that funds go to 
counties with flood control responsibilities. 

$400 

Watershed Improvements 

Provides $2.355 billion to protect, restore and 
improve the health of watershed lands, in order to 
improve water supply and water quality. This section 
includes: 

 $150 million for the LA River 

 $100 million for the Delta Conservancy, 

helping to fund the Governor’s Eco-Restore 

program. 

 $80 million for the removal of Matilija Dam, 

a silted-in dam in Ventura County 

 $200 million for ecological restoration and 

dust control at the Salton Sea.  

 $20 million to Cal Fire for grants for urban 

forestry projects that manage, capture or 

conserve stormwater, recharge local 

groundwater supplies or improve water 

supplies or water quality 

 $250 million to the Sierra Nevada 

Conservancy for the purpose of awarding 

$2,355 
 



11 | P a g e  
 

grants within the conservancy to various 

eligible public agencies, including counties, 

for reducing the threat of wildfires that 

could negatively affect watershed health and 

other related projects 

 $50 million to CAL Fire for grants outside the 

jurisdiction of the Sierra Nevada 

Conservancy to prevent wildfires in 

watershed areas 

Land Management for Improved 
Water Yield 

Funds for removal of invasive weeds that use 
excessive amounts of surface and groundwater such 
as tamarisk, yellow starthistle, and Aroundo.  

$100 

Fisheries Restoration 

For the restoration of Central Valley populations of 
native fish and fisheries habitat which will be 
allocated by a newly bond-created Central Valley 
Fisheries Advisory Committee. 

$400 

Groundwater 

Provides funds for the Sustainable Groundwater 
Management Act, stabilizing groundwater levels in 
over drafted groundwater basins, the development 
of groundwater sustainability plans, recharge 
projects, etc. 

$675 

Water for Fisheries and 
Waterfowl Habitat 
Improvement 

Funds for a variety of state agencies for the purchase 
of water rights and other restoration projects that 
improve fish and waterfowl habitat. $50 million for 
projects on private lands. 

$350 

Central Valley salmon and 
steelhead restoration 

Funds to help restore spring run Chinook Salmon. 
This includes: 

 $100 million for fish screens to prevent 

juvenile fish from being diverted into 

irrigation systems 

 $100 million for matching grants to improve 

fish passage 

$300 

Waterfowl Habitat 
Helps meet waterfowl obligations under Central 
Valley Project Improvement Act, and other 
waterfowl habitat improvement programs. 

$280 

Bay Area Regional Reliability 
Improve interconnections between Bay Area water 
agencies to improve drought resiliency. 

$250 

Improvement to Friant Kern 
Canal and other Friant Water 
Interconnections 

Restores lost capacity to Friant Kern Canal, pays for 
groundwater recharge programs, water conservation 
and possibly new water conveyance in the Friant 
Area. 

$750 

Oroville Dam Spillway Repair Makes Oroville Dam more flood safe. $200 

 
 



12 | P a g e  
 

Policy Considerations.  CSAC relies on our county policy platform to formulate positions on water- 
related initiatives and on various bonds. Our policy gives direction to support efforts that include 
statutory protection of counties of origin and watershed areas, support for existing water rights, the 
need for new and expanded water resources, and the need for local water conservation efforts. CSAC’s 
water policy extends to improved flood protection, effective surface and local groundwater 
management as well as improved stormwater management.   

 
Since 2000, CSAC has supported four of the five water bonds that were placed before the voters – 
Propositions 13, 1E, 84 and 1.  The exception was Proposition 50 (2002). CSAC opposed this measure 
based on concerns expressed by the Board of Directors over insufficient funding for the development of 
new water supplies, excessive funding for land acquisitions and the consequential impact on local 
property tax revenues. 

 
In addition, it is worth noting that the expenditure of Proposition 1 (2014) is not yet complete. 
Specifically, the $2.7 billion in funding for water storage, which is to be allocated by the California 
Water Commission, has yet to be appropriated. However, the Water Commission is evaluating 
proposals and the remaining funding should be appropriated by the end of 2018.  
 
In considering this measure, CSAC members must also take into consideration Proposition 68, which 
voters passed on the June 2018 ballot. Proposition 68 is a $4 billion general obligation bond that 
provides funding for parks, wildlife restoration and some water projects. According to proponents of 
Proposition 3, a separate water-specific bond was pursued as a result of additional need. Furthermore, 
Proposition 68 is focused on funding for parks and includes $1.2 billion amount for park funding and a 
$1.55 billion amount for water projects. There have been 6 election years since 1984 with multiple 
water bonds appearing before voters, and all 13 bond measures passed. 

 
While there is no direct appropriation to counties in Proposition 3, counties are eligible for funding 
under a number of different programs, including: grants for flood protection, stormwater runoff, river 
parkway and urban stream restoration grants, watershed protection and wildfire prevention, and 
grants for projects and programs that support sustainable groundwater management. 

 
Support/ Opposition: Proposition 3 is backed by a coalition of interests such as water agencies 
(including the Northern California Water Association and Association of California Water Agencies), 
agricultural groups such as California Farm Bureau Federation, and business organizations such as the 
California Chamber of Commerce, environmental justice groups, and conservation nongovernmental 
organizations. The bond was also endorsed by the Rural County Representatives of California in January 
2018.  

 
The Sierra Club of California opposes the measure, and argues that the bond would establish bad water 
policy citing concerns with perceived violations to the beneficiary pays principal. In addition, the group 
sees the bond as having potential to open up new funding pathways for dams citing concerns about the 
lack of language preventing funds from being spent on storage projects. Finally, the group opposes 
language in the bond that would create several continuous allocations from the state’s Greenhouse Gas 
Reduction Fund. 
 
Staff Contact: Please contact Cara Martinson, CSAC Senior Legislative Representative at 916-327-7500, 
ext 504, or Cmartinson@counties.org, or Nick Cronenwett, CSAC Legislative Analyst, at 916-327-7500, 
ext. 531 or ncronenwett@counties.org  for questions or additional information. 
 

mailto:Cmartinson@counties.org
mailto:ncronenwett@counties.org


13 | P a g e  
 

 
 
August 2, 2018 
 
 
To:  CSAC Executive Committee 
 
From:  Graham Knaus, CSAC Executive Director 

Dorothy Johnson, CSAC Legislative Representative 
  
Re: CSAC Financial Participation in Opposition to Proposition 5: Property Tax Transfers – 

ACTION ITEM 

 
Recommendation. The Executive Committee takes action to recommend to the Board of Directors that 
CSAC financially participates in the effort to oppose Proposition 5 on the November 2018 ballot. 
 
Summary. 
Proposition 5, sponsored by the California Association of Realtors (CAR), seeks to change the current 
rules for property tax portability between residential properties by expanding the program in several 
ways, creating an unprecedented extension for homeowners who are age 55 and over or who have a 
disability. The CSAC Board of Directors adopted an “oppose” position at the May 17, 2018, meeting 
based on the significant fiscal impact to county revenues and loss of Board of Supervisors’ authority to 
set limitations on tax bill portability between counties. 
 
A coalition of opponents including labor unions, schools, housing advocates, local government, and 
senior groups have launched a formal campaign, “No on Prop 5, Sponsored by Educators, Public Safety 
and Health Care Organizations.” (A current list of formal coalition partners is available at 
www.noprop5.com).  CAR does not yet have a similar campaign effort in support of the proposition. 
 
Background. 
Proposition 5 would place before voters at the November 2018 General Election a proposal to expand 
the existing property tax portability program for homeowners aged 55 and older or with a disability. 
The proponents argue that homeowners are being trapped in their existing homes because seniors and 
those with a disability, presumably those on a fixed income, cannot afford a higher property tax bill 
associated with a new home purchase. At the same time, a large stock of homes suitable for first-time 
homeowners is unavailable. They argue that allowing homes of greater value to be part of the program 
and transferring property tax bills across county lines ensure individuals can find a home that better 
meets their needs.  
 
Current Law 
Under current law, property tax bills can be transferred from an existing home to a new, primary 
residence for people who are 55 and older or have a disability. It can be done once per person (with 
very limited exceptions1) and only to homes of equal or lesser value than the original residence. This is 
based on the assessment at time of sale and not the original purchase price. Certain restrictions apply 
related to the date of purchase, place of primary residence, and other conditions specific to the 
jurisdiction or homeowner. 

                                                 
1
 The only exception is when a person becomes disabled after receiving the tax relief for age; they may transfer the 

base year value a second time if disability. 

http://www.noprop5.com/


14 | P a g e  
 

 
Both properties must be located within the same county unless the receiving county (where the 
homeowner seeks to purchase their new residence) has adopted an ordinance allowing intercounty 
transfers. This is known as the Proposition 90 rule.  Currently, 11 counties (Alameda, El Dorado2, Los 
Angeles, Orange, Riverside, San Bernardino, San Diego, San Mateo, Santa Clara, Tuolumne, and 
Ventura) allow intercounty transfers pursuant to resolutions adopted by the Board of Supervisors in 
those counties.  
 
Counties may also permit intercounty transfers for homeowners who are victims of disaster and seek to 
relocate in their jurisdiction under Proposition 171 (1993). Those counties are Contra Costa, Los 
Angeles, Modoc, Orange, San Diego, San Francisco, Santa Clara, Solano, Sonoma, Sutter, and Ventura. 
All counties are required to allow property transfers for disaster victims within the same county if a 
state of disaster is declared by the Governor for any type of property, not just residential (Proposition 
50, 1986). 
 
The following chart provides a comparison between current law and the changes proposed in 
Proposition 5: 
 

 
 
Prior Ballot Measure Success Rate 
There have been numerous, small expansions to permitted property tax portability since the passage of 
the original Proposition 60. All but one of the expansion propositions passed with well over two-thirds 
majority approval. The expansions were largely based on the reason for the transfer, such as a disaster 
or personal disability. Unlike Proposition 5 they did not permit multiple transfer opportunities or 
transfers to properties of greater value. Prior propositions also maintained the discretion of the Board 
of Supervisors if property tax bills could cross county lines.  
 

Proposition Year Summary Approval Rate 

Proposition 13 1978 Established uniform 1% assessed value cap on 
residential and commercial property taxes. 

Yes:  62.6%  
No:  34.0%  

Proposition 60 1986 Established property tax portability for age-
related transfers for homeowners 55 and older. 
 

Yes:  77.0% 
No:  23.0% 

                                                 
2
 The El Dorado County Board of Supervisors voted to end their Proposition 90 allowance in 2018 due to revenue 

losses totaling more than $500,000 annually. 

 
Homeowner 

Eligibility 
Residential 

Property Eligibility 
Frequency Intercounty Transfers 

Current Law 

Restricted to 
homeowners 

55+ or 
severely 
disabled 

Restricted to 
replacement 

properties of equal 
or lesser value 

A once in a 
lifetime 

Only if approved by 
Board of Supervisors 

Proposition 5 Same 
No value limit on 

replacement 
properties 

Unlimited Transfer 
Opportunities 

Permitted anywhere in 
the state, between any 

counties 



15 | P a g e  
 

Proposition Year Summary Approval Rate 

Proposition 50 1986 Provided for disaster-related transfers for 
residential and commercial property owners 
within the same county. 
 

Yes:  70.5% 
No:  29.5% 

Proposition 90 1988 Provided intercounty transfers for residential 
property owners age 55 and older with approval 
of Board of Supervisors of the receiving county. 
 

Yes:  69.12% 
No:  30.88% 

Proposition 110 1990 Provided disability-related transfers for 
residential properties within the same county. 
 

Yes:  80.17% 
No:  19.38% 

Proposition 171 1993 Provided intercounty transfers for disaster 
victims if approved by the Board of Supervisors 
of the receiving county. 
 

Yes: 51.7% 
No:  48.2% 

Proposition 1 1998 Provided contamination-related transfers for 
residential properties within the same county. 

Yes:  71.06% 
No:  28.94% 

 
 
Fiscal Impact 
The Legislative Analyst’s Office (LAO) estimated the resulting property tax losses would total hundreds 
of millions of dollars per year, with schools and other local governments (cities, counties, and special 
districts) each losing $150 million annually statewide. Over time, the losses would grow as artificially 
low property tax bases move to additional properties, creating abnormally low tax bills based on prior 
assessment transfers. The LAO estimates property tax losses would total between $1 billion to a few 
billion dollars per year (in today’s dollars), with schools and other local governments each losing $1 
billion or more annually statewide. A revised LAO analysis will be made available in late July 2018 
pursuant to protocols for when initiatives qualify for a ballot. 
 
CAR provided their own fiscal analysis that offers statewide revenues would nearly be equal under 
Proposition 5 due to the reassessment of the old home when purchased by a different owner. 
However, this cost estimate relies on a statewide average and one-time transaction fees, sales tax 
revenues for moving related expenses, and capital gains revenue that is a state-level revenue source. It 
does not account for regional differences when property tax bills transfer across county lines or 
scenarios of a “Prop 5” homeowner being both the seller and the buyer of a home. It also does not limit 
the revenue gains and losses to local agencies. 
 
Policy Considerations. 
The California County Platform, CSAC’s adopted statement of the basic policies of concern and interest 
to California’s counties, speaks directly against the changes presented by this initiative. It offers: 
 
“Property Tax Revenue: Counties oppose erosion of the property tax base through unreimbursed 
exemptions to property taxes. The state should recognize that property tax revenues are a significant 
source of county discretionary funds. Any subventions to counties that are based upon property tax 
losses through state action should be adjusted for inflation annually.” – Chapter 9, Financing County 
Services 
 



16 | P a g e  
 

CSAC also has a well-established history of opposing legislation seeking to expand property tax 
portability due to the fiscal impact on property taxes, an important discretionary revenue base that 
makes up approximately 20% of county revenue.  
 
Staff Contact. Please contact Dorothy Johnson at (916) 327-7500 Ext. 515 or djohnson@counties.org or 
Tracy Sullivan at (916) 327-7500 Ext. 525 or tsullivan@counties.org. 
 
Resources. 
1) CSAC Board of Directors Memo for CAR Ballot Measure – May 17, 2018 
2) Full Text of Ballot Initiative  
3) Fiscal Analysis by Legislative Analyst’s Office  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:djohnson@counties.org
mailto:tsullivan@counties.org
http://www.counties.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/csac_board_of_directors_memo_051718_car_ballot_measure_2.pdf
https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/initiatives/pdfs/17-0013%20%28Property%20Tax%20V3%29.pdf
http://www.lao.ca.gov/ballot/2017/170501.pdf


17 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

 
 
August 2, 2018 
 
To:  CSAC Executive Committee 
 
From: Leonard Moty, President 

Alan Fernandes, Chief Executive Officer 
 
RE: CSAC Finance Corporation Update  
   

 
 
CSAC Finance Corporation FY 17-18 Contribution Update 
At the April CSAC Finance Corporation Board of Directors meeting, the Board authorized up-to an 
additional $500,000 allocation to CSAC for FY 17-18.  The ability to provide the additional contribution 
is largely thanks to the success of our partners and the growth of our programs, most notably, a stellar 
year for CSCDA.  In addition, the Board approved the CSAC Finance Corporation FY 18-19 budget, 
including an increase in the budgeted contribution to CSAC to $4.1 million.  
 
U.S. Communities 
Our U.S. Communities cooperative purchasing program’s management company, CPM, was recently 
sold to Omnia Partners, a firm that also manages one our largest program competitors.  The U.S. 
Communities Foundation Board, on which both Alan Fernandes and Graham Knaus serve, will be 
meeting later this month to discuss the implications of this transaction on the future of the U.S. 
Communities program and to hear from Omnia as to their strategy for the program.  
 
Nationwide 
It is a very busy time in California for our partners at Nationwide.  There are currently 3 counties in 
various stages of the RFP process for which Nationwide either already has, or will be, submitting a 
proposal. These include Butte, Monterey, and San Francisco.  We expect to see multiple other counties 
in California issuing RFP’s sooner than anticipated due to restructuring with one of Nationwide’s 
competitors.  We currently have 29 counties in California participating in our Nationwide program and 
over $3.6 billion in assets in the program.  
 
CalTRUST 
Our CalTRUST program began offering a new fund as of July 2, 2018. The CalTRUST Liquidity Fund is a 
stable net asset value fund.  While current county participation in this program remains low at roughly 
15 counties, this new fund is expected to bring in new county participants and we anticipate a healthy 
increase in new assets to the fund.  
 
 
211 California  
Effective May 1, 2018, the CSAC Finance Corporation has officially been named the Administrator of 
211 California.  As administrator, the CSAC Finance Corporation will be providing all operations and 
staffing for 211 California.  As previously reported, 211 systems serve county residents by providing 
trusted connectivity to community, health, and social services.  In California, there are still 23 counties 



18 | P a g e  
 

that do not have an active 211 service.  Supervisor Greg Cox will be making 211 connectivity an active 
platform and focus during his upcoming tenure as President of the National Association of Counties 
(NACo).  Through our now formalized partnership, the CSAC Finance Corporation will assist 211 
California in becoming a formal incorporated organization and assist in expanding the 211 network to 
those counties currently without.  
 
Property Tax Payment Program 
Easy Smart Pay (ESP) is a program of the CSAC Finance Corporation relating to a payment platform 
primarily focused on improving and facilitating tax payments for local government taxpayers.  The 
ESP payment portal will save taxpayers money on transaction fees they are currently charged to 
make tax payments to local government agencies.  The initial product of the platform is a pilot 
program partnership with the San Luis Obispo County Treasurer Tax Collectors Office, for the 
2018-19 tax year, in an effort to offer additional options for taxpayers to pay their property taxes 
in more frequent installment payments not currently allowed under existing law.  In doing so, this 
platform will promote prompt payments and avoid high payment penalties prescribed in California 
law, while also accomplishing the other objectives mentioned above for the primary benefit of the 
taxpayer.   

 
Corporate Associates Program 
The Corporate Associates program is beginning the new fiscal year in position to match and/or surpass 
the net revenue from F17/18. While there is some turnover as the new fiscal year begins, the program 
begins with 65 partners across three levels. Several companies are set to be added in the upcoming 
months and will be reflected in future reports.  Engagement from our corporate associates remain 
strong as noted in their attendance at CSAC’s June Regional meeting with over 16 corporations 
represented. CSAC just completed the NACo annual meeting in Nashville and witnessed key 
engagement and sponsorship from 15 corporations. All in all, the new year is poised to continue strong 
support from the corporate associate program.  
 
 
For more information on CSAC Finance Corporation programs please contact Alan Fernandes at (916) 
650-8120 or alan@csacfc.org, Laura Labanieh at (916) 650-8186 or laura@csacfc.org, or Jim Manker at 
(916) 650-8107 or jim@csacfc.org.   
 
 
 
 

mailto:alan@csacfc.org
mailto:laura@csacfc.org
mailto:jim@csacfc.org


19 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

August 2, 2018 

 

To:  CSAC Executive Committee   

 

From:  Kiana Valentine, CSAC Senior Legislative Representative  

  Chris Lee, CSAC Associate Legislative Representative  

 

Re:  Proposition 6 (SB 1 Repeal Initiative) – Informational Update  

 

Background. The effort to repeal SB 1 – the Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017 – officially 

qualified for the November 2018 General Election as Proposition 6. CSAC continues to play a critical 

role in the campaign against Prop 6 given the significant negative impacts the initiative would have 

on the ability of counties to repair and maintain in a safe condition local streets, roads, bridges and 

other critical local transportation infrastructure. Counties and cities have already identified more 

than 6,500 local projects to be funded by SB 1 immediately and in the near-term.  Should Prop 6 be 

successful, counties report that they will have to cancel contracts, delay projects (some 

indefinitely), lay off staff, etc.  

 

While counties can take official positions on ballot initiatives, county supervisors and county 

employees cannot use public resources to engage in advocacy related to ballot campaigns. 

Counties can however, educate their constituents about the impacts propositions would have on 

the county and their community, despite whether they have taken a position on a ballot initiative. 

In fact, counties have a responsibility to inform the electorate of potential impacts of ballot 

measures on county functions, programs, and services. The line between education and advocacy 

can be difficult to differentiate at times so CSAC staff encourages counties refer to helpful 

resources such as the Institute for Local Government’s papers and primers on ballot measure 

activities. Staff also highly recommends, especially when there is every any doubt about a 

particular activity or communication, to consult with county counsel. Lastly, CSAC conducted a 

webinar about the do’s and don’ts for public agencies and employees and a recording of the 

webinar is available for counties to watch and consult.    

 

CSAC staff has developed a number of resources to assist counties with education activities at the 

local level regarding the impacts Prop 6 would have on each jurisdiction. Specifically, the local 

toolkit on CSAC’s SB 1 webpage includes suggested talking points, sample press releases, op-eds, 

social media posts, and more. Of particular note are the frequently asked questions staff put 

together.  There is a lot of confusion among the electorate and misinformation being pushed by the 

proponents of Prop 6 so staff complied some facts and data to help you educate the public about 

SB 1, transportation funding generally, and Prop 6.  

 

http://www.ca-ilg.org/ballot-measure-activities
http://www.ca-ilg.org/ballot-measure-activities
https://youtu.be/tJS4Vc2LGk4
https://youtu.be/tJS4Vc2LGk4
http://www.counties.org/post/sb-1-road-repair-and-accountability-act-2017


20 | P a g e  
 

Lastly, staff wanted to acknowledge that Prop 69 – the constitutional protection measure that 

accompanied the passage of SB 1 – was overwhelming approved by voters in June 2018 (81.3 

percent). Prop 69 ensures that the revenues from SB 1 that were not already protected by the 

constitution (primarily the transportation improvement fee) are guaranteed for transportation 

purposes. With the passage of Prop 69, transportation funds cannot be used for non-transportation 

purposes, nor can they be borrowed or taken permanently, even under a fiscal emergency. 

 

Action Requested. Action by the Executive Committee is not required at this time. However, CSAC 

staff does recommend that individual counties take an oppose position on Prop 6 and use the local 

toolkit to educate the public about the impacts Prop 6 would have on their community. Staff has 

developed the attached sample resolution for counties to use for this purpose. 

 

Staff Contact. Please contact Kiana Valentine (kvalentine@counties.org or 916-650-8185) for 

additional information.   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

mailto:kvalentine@counties.org


21 | P a g e  
 

Sample Resolution to Oppose Proposition 6 
WHEREAS, cities and counties own and operate more than 81 percent of streets and roads in 
California, and from the moment we open our front door to drive to work, bike to school, or walk to 
the bus station, people are dependent upon a safe, reliable local transportation network; and  
 

WHEREAS, the 2016 California Statewide Local Streets and Roads Needs Assessment, which 
provides critical analysis and information on the local transportation network’s condition and 
funding needs, indicates that the condition of the local transportation network is deteriorating at an 
increasing rate; and 
 

WHEREAS, California has more than 1,600 bridges and overpasses that are structurally deficient and 
unsafe and 89% of counties have roads that are in ‘poor’ or ‘at-risk’ condition; and 
 

WHEREAS, according to the National Highway Traffic Safety Association, there were more than 
3,600 fatalities on California roads in 2016, with poor road conditions as a major factor in vehicle 
collisions and accidents; and 
 

WHEREAS, Prop 6 would eliminate more than $52 billion over the next 10 years in existing 
transportation funding, including the $15 billion in direct apportionments, and $11 billion in 
available competitive grant funding, to cities and counties statewide; and 
 

WHEREAS, Prop 6 would stop funding for more than 6,500 transportation improvement projects 
currently underway or planned in every California community; and  
 

WHEREAS, Prop 6 would jeopardize public safety by eliminating thousands of projects to fix unsafe 
bridges and overpasses, repair crumbling and unsafe roads, and enhance pedestrian safety; and  
 

WHEREAS, Prop 6 would raid $## annually dedicated to City/County NAME, and halt critical 
investments in future transportation improvement projects in our community 
that will be used for: 

 (add in list of local projects); and 
 

WHEREAS, voters overwhelmingly passed Prop 69 in June thereby ensuring transportation funds can 
only be used for transportation purposes and the State and local governments are accountable to 
taxpayers; and 
 

WHEREAS, Prop 6 would eliminate transportation revenues that are accountable to taxpayers, can’t 
be diverted or borrowed, and that voters overwhelmingly dedicated to fixing our roads. 
 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the City/County of [NAME] hereby opposes Prop 6 on the 
November 2018 ballot; and 
 

THEREFORE BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City/County of [NAME] can be listed as a member of 
the No on Prop 6 coalition, a diverse coalition of local governments, public safety organizations, 
business, labor, environmental leaders, transportation advocates and other organizations 
throughout the state.     
 

We direct staff to email a copy of this adopted resolution to Kyle Griffith of the No on Prop 6 
campaign at kgriffith@bcfpublicaffairs.com. 
 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this day _____ of _____, 2018. 

mailto:kgriffith@bcfpublicaffairs.com


22 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

August 2, 2018 

 

To:   CSAC Executive Committee 

 

From:  Darby Kernan, Deputy Executive Director, Legislative Affairs 

  Dorothy Johnson, Legislative Representative 

  Tracy Sullivan, Legislative Analyst 

 

Re:   2018 Statewide Propositions – Informational Update 

 

The California 2018 General Election will include 11 propositions that have qualified3  for the 

November ballot. The following table provides a summary of the propositions and CSAC’s adopted 

position, if any. 

 

                                                 
3
 Proposition 9 (dividing California into three states) was pulled from the ballot by the California Supreme Court 

on July 18, 2018. 

Proposition 
Number 

Title Summary CSAC 
Position 

Proposition 1 SB 3: Veterans and 
Affordable Housing Bond 
Act of 2018 

Authorizes the issuance of $4 billion in 
general obligation bonds for 
affordable housing programs and a 
veteran’s homeownership program. 

Support  

Proposition 2 AB 1827: No Place Like 
Home Act of 2018 

Provides for voter ratification and 
approval of the “No Place Like 
Home” program to fund grants to 
counties for permanent supportive 
housing aimed at people 
experiencing homeless and living 
with mental illness.  

None  



23 | P a g e  
 

Proposition 3 Authorizes Bonds to 
Fund Projects for Water 
Supply and Quality, 
Watershed, Fish, 
Wildlife, Water 
Conveyance, And 
Groundwater 
Sustainability and 
Storage. 

Provides $8.8 billion in general 
obligation bonds to finance various 
water-related projects and includes: 
$2.355 billion for watershed 
protection and restorations; $750 
million for improvements in safe 
drinking water; $750 million for 
repairs to the Friant Kern Canal; and 
$675 million for improving 
groundwater sustainability and 
storage. It also includes $400 million 
for counties and cities for stormwater 
and urban dry runoff projects  in 
disadvantaged communities. Contains 
prohibition on the use of bond funds 
for Delta tunnels.   

Pending 
before CSAC 
Executive 
Committee  

Proposition 4 Authorizes Bonds 
Funding Construction at 
Hospitals Providing 
Children's Care, 

Proposes a $1.5 billion bond for 
capital improvement programs at the 
13 children's hospitals as well as 
selected other hospitals that provide 
services for children eligible for the 
California Children’s Services (CCS) 
program. 

None 

Proposition 5 Changes Requirements 
for Certain Property 
Owners to Transfer their 
Property Tax Base to 
Replacement Property. 

Expands Proposition 13 by allowing 
homeowners 55 years and older 
and/or severely disabled to take their 
existing property tax assessment 
wherever they move within California. 

Oppose  

Proposition 6 Eliminates Recently 
Enacted Road Repair and 
Transportation Funding 
by Repealing Revenues 
Dedicated for those 
Purposes. Requires any 
Measure to Enact 
Certain Vehicle Fuel 
Taxes and Vehicle Fees 
be Submitted to and 
Approved by the 
Electorate. 

Eliminates SB 1 transportation taxes 
for state and local projects and 
requires voter approval to impose, 
increase, or extend excise and sales 
taxes on gasoline and diesel, as well as 
taxes on vehicles. 

Oppose  

Proposition 7 AB 807: Daylight Savings 
Time  

Repeals the Daylight Saving Time Act 
to eliminate the twice-yearly one-hour 
change of time. 

None 



24 | P a g e  
 

 

 

The CSAC Policy and Procedure Manual sets forth the process (pages 11 – 13) for taking an official 

position on ballot measures. In sum, initiatives that qualify for the ballot and have an impact to 

counties will be referred by the CSAC Officers to the appropriate Policy Committees, which will 

make recommendations to the Executive Committee, and, if approved, be affirmed by the Board of 

Directors. 

 

Staff Contacts. Please contact Dorothy Johnson at (916) 650-8133, or djohnson@counties.org 

and/or Tracy Sullivan at (916) 650-8124 or tsullivan@counties.org for additional information. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposition 8 Authorizes State 
Regulation of Kidney 
Dialysis Clinics. Limits 
Charges for Patient Care. 

Limits the amount outpatient kidney 
dialysis clinics may charge for patient 
care and imposes penalties for 
excessive charges. Requires annual 
reporting to the state regarding clinic 
costs, patient charges, and revenue. 
Prohibits clinics from discriminating 
against patients based on the source 
of payment for care. 

None 
 

Proposition 10 Expands Local 
Governments' Authority 
to Enact Rent Control on 
Residential Property. 

Allows cities and counties to enact 
rent control by repealing the Costa-
Hawkins Rental Housing Act of 1995. 

None 

Proposition 11 Requires Private-Sector 
Emergency Ambulance 
Employees to Remain on 
Call During Work Breaks. 
Changes Other 
Conditions of 
Employment. 

Requires on-call meal and rest breaks 
for private-sector emergency medical 
technicians and paramedics, which 
can be employed by or contracted for 
counties. 

None 

Proposition 12 Establishes New 
Standards for 
Confinement of Certain 
Farm Animals; Bans Sale 
of Certain Non-
Complying Products. 

Phases in new requirements over the 
next several years that increase the 
minimum size of restrictive enclosures 
used by California farmers to confine 
egg-laying hens, breeding pigs, and 
calves raised for veal. Additionally, it 
prohibits businesses from buying or 
selling liquid eggs, pork, and veal that 
were produced from animals confined 
in more restrictive enclosures are out 
of compliance. 

None 

http://www.counties.org/sites/main/files/file-attachments/policy_manual_jan_2018.pdf
mailto:djohnson@counties.org
mailto:tsullivan@counties.org


25 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

August 2, 2018 
 
To:  CSAC Executive Committee 
 
From:  David Liebler, Director of Public Affairs & Member Services  
  
 
Re:   Communications and Member Services Update 

 
Communications 
 
CSAC’s work on the communications and member services front over the past three months has 
focused on providing support to our legislative unit on key CSAC priorities as well as working 
directly with our members through trainings and meetings.  
 
Spotlighting Our Advocacy Work, Advocates & Leadership 
 
CSAC communications is assisting our legislative unit’s work on two of the Association’s biggest 
priorities this year: opposing the SB 1 repeal and wildfire liability law. CSAC continues to work 
closely with the No on Prop 6 Coalition as well as with our members to promote how SB 1 funding 
is being put to use in our communities.  A webinar was also held for county public information 
officers and public works staff in July that discussed dos and don’ts now that the repeal effort has 
qualified for the ballot. Also in July, CSAC hosted a press conference in Sonoma County on the 
utility liability law issue; wildfire survivors and county supervisors from Mendocino, Napa and 
Sonoma Counties spoke out about potential changes. CSAC communications continues to work on 
both issues.   
 
Conducting Media Training for County Staff 
 
CSAC’s Director of Public Affairs has conducted media training for county staff in San Luis Obispo 
and Stanislaus Counties over the past few months. The three-hour training sessions included on-
camera exercises. Altogether more than 60 staff members attended the trainings that were done in 
conjunction with the county’s communications personnel. The value of these trainings helps 
position counties to better to tell their story, enhances the CSAC/member relationship, improves 
strategic communications, and provides CSAC staff with insight into local priority issues in various 
departments. 
 
Promoting County Best Practices 
 
CSAC is just completing promoting our 2017 Challenge Award recipients through videos and blogs. 
These have been running every other week since January. Altogether, 16 best practices have been 
promoted. CSAC has also received entries for the 2018 Challenge Awards competition. More than 
260 entries were received and judges are now reviewing them. An announcement regarding the 
2018 recipients will be made at the 2018 Board of Directors Meeting.  
 



26 | P a g e  
 

CSAC is privileged to have Taylor Brown, an intern from UC Riverside, assisting on the Challenge 
Awards this year. Taylor has shown a strong interest in local government and the challenges 
counties face. She has previously interned with Riverside County Supervisor Chuck Washington. Her 
ultimate goal is to return to her native county of Merced and get involved in politics at the local 
level. She has been a welcome addition for the summer to our staff. Taylor will be with us until late 
August when she heads off to participate in a Coro Fellowship.  

 
Continuing Social Media Work 
 
CSAC continues to use four different social media platforms to promote CSAC activities, showcase 
positive news articles on our member counties, and to inform about issues of importance to 
counties. Our number of views and followers for Twitter, Facebook, Instagram and YouTube 
continue to grow. Interest is CSAC’s Twitter feed was especially high in June/July when numerous 
wildfires had broken out CSAC was quickly reporting the news. In a 30-day period between mid-
June and mid-July, CSAC’s feed had more than 300,000 views.  
 
Regional Policy Meeting in Santa Barbara County  
 
CSAC’s regional meeting in Santa Barbara County in June focused on resiliency and response to 
natural disasters. The meeting had the highest attendance of any CSAC regional meeting to date as 
nearly 75 county supervisors, staff and corporate partners were in attendance. The meeting kicked 
off Wednesday afternoon with a very extensive and eye-opening tour of the Montecito region 
devastated by January’s debris flow. On Thursday, a series of panel discussions were held focusing 
on a number of very relative topics. CSAC is planning its next regional meeting, tentatively 
scheduled for September.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



27 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
August 2, 2018 
 
To:  CSAC Executive Committee 
 
From:  Chastity Benson, California Counties Foundation Operations Manager 
  Amalia Mejia, Project Manager, CSAC-Results First 
 
Re:  California Counties Foundation Update 

 
The California Counties Foundation (Foundation) is the non-profit foundation of CSAC that houses 
the CSAC Institute, the partnership with the Pew-MacArthur 31 Results First Initiative, and manages 
charitable contributions and grants to improve educational opportunities for county supervisors, 
county administrative officers, and senior staff. This memorandum highlights key activities and 
programs occurring within the Foundation FY 2018-19. 
 
CSAC Institute 
The CSAC Institute for Excellence in County Government celebrates its 10th anniversary since its 
inception in November 2018.  The Institute offers exemplary professional development 
opportunities for county managers, executives and elected officials.  The program has grown from 
offering courses in one central location in Sacramento to five locations throughout the state as well 
as offering special programs that target specific audiences — elected officials, county executives, 
and new/aspiring department directors.  This fiscal year the Institute will continue its work to 
provide continuing education opportunities through policy-based and leadership-focused courses 
and activities as described below. 
 
County Campuses – Last June the Institute held its final courses in Merced and San Bernardino 
Counties. Nearly 30 participants in each campus received their Executive Credential.  The Merced 
campus will rotate to Tulare County and the San Bernardino campus will rotate to Orange County 
as of this September.  The Contra Costa County and Shasta/Tehama County campuses will end their 
2018 program in October.  The next session of the Shasta/Tehama County campus will begin in 
January and a new campus in Santa Cruz County later this year. 
 
Fall-Winter 2018 Course Schedule – The July-December session has begun.  Classes will be offered 
in Sacramento, Contra Costa, Orange, Shasta and Tulare counties.  Based on feedback from a 
recent trends study on the Institute, our curriculum focuses on financial management, along with 
new courses in building organizational resiliency and how to be human at work.   
 
New Supervisors Institute – The first session of the New Supervisors Institute will occur November 
25-27 in San Diego during the CSAC Annual Meeting.  We are expecting a class of approximately 35 
newly elected County Supervisors.  Session II will be held February 21 – 22, 2019 and Session III will 
be held July 18-19, 2019 — both in Sacramento.   
 
Fellows Program – There are 24 candidates for the Institute Fellows certification, including two 
County Supervisors.  This program began in July and offers participants an opportunity to explore 
current thinking on the intersection of leadership management and politics to address enduring 
challenges in county governance and management.  In addition to in-depth discussion, each 



28 | P a g e  
 

participant engages in a practical problem-solving project to apply the learned tools and concepts 
to their work.   
 
Future Department Director Seminar – Both county executives and county boards had indicated the 
need to better prepare managers to take on their executive role.  In response to this need, the 
Institute held its first “Moving to the Executive Chair” seminar for aspiring department directors 
last March 14-16.  More than 50 aspiring or newly appointed department directors representing 23 
counties attended the session.  Participants highly rated the overall value of the seminar. The next 
session will be held March 6-8, 2019. 
 
Leadership Symposium – The Leadership Symposium will be held March 27-29, 2019.  This powerful 
symposium is designed for County Supervisors and County Administrative/Executive Officers to 
enhance their leadership practices and gain greater insights into themselves and those they serve.   
 
CSAC Results First Partnership 
The CSAC-Results First partnership is a joint effort of the California State Association of Counties 
and the Pew-MacArthur Results First Initiative, with additional support from the California Health 
Care Foundation.  CSAC-Results First provides tools and training to select California counties as they 
engage in evidence-based policymaking. This initiative focuses on increasing the understanding of 
evidence-based practices among county leaders who seek to invest in criminal justice programs 
that will produce the best outcomes for residents and the highest rate of return on county 
investments. The program provides customized tools and technical assistance to help counties 
create a framework for using research evidence available about program effectiveness to help 
inform decisions about counties’ program investments. The participating counties are: Santa 
Barbara, Kern, Santa Cruz, Fresno, Ventura, Santa Clara, Nevada, Solano and Alameda.  

 
Counties have used their results first work in the following methods: 
 

 Increased level of evidence into the decision-making process internally and with community-
based organizations.  

 Increased standards on evidence-based through contracts by holding providers and agencies 
at a higher standard on evidence-based practices.  

 Used the Results First Clearinghouse as a menu of treatment options to implement 
programs in the jail and the community. 

 Incorporated concepts of Results First approach into other policy areas such as Health and 
Human Services and Mental Health.  

 Expanded to Juvenile Justice Policy to catalog their programs in the community and custody. 

 Counties have used the tools built from Results First to refine their grant applications. Santa 
Barbara County was awarded the SAMHSA Drug and Specialty courts grant. They used their funding 
protocol a worksheet developed to facilitate their decision making process through data-driven 
decisions.  
 
Recent updates 
 
Santa Cruz County approved Probation's Juvenile Justice request for proposal (RFP) allocations 
($350,000) moving into a performance-based contracting. The County successfully moved to a 
competitive contracting process in their adult criminal justice. After completing their cost-benefit 
model for juvenile justice, they worked with their providers to ensure they were equipped to apply 



29 | P a g e  
 

for the RFP. This allows the county to have higher standards of evidence-based practices for their 
criminal justice programs and targets good use of taxpayer money.  
 
Santa Barbara County is expanding into juvenile justice policy to increase their evidence based 
programs.  The County found success in building a cost benefit model for their adult criminal 
justice; they are now cataloging their juvenile justice programs to create a baseline and have a 
deeper understand of the types of programs they are providing.  
 
Fresno County is moving into an RFP process for programs funded through their community 
corrections partnership (CCP).  
 
Santa Clara County is developing county definitions on the levels of evidence to create uniformity 
within the county. In addition, they are leveraging their public safety working groups to embed 
evidence into the decision making process.  
 
Ventura County will report their cost-benefit analysis at their August 15 CCP meeting.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



30 | P a g e  
 

 County Counsels’ Association of California  

 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

To:  Supervisor Leticia Perez, President, and  
  Members of the CSAC Executive Committee 
 
From:  Jennifer Henning, Litigation Coordinator 
 
Date:  August 2, 2018 
 
Re:  Litigation Coordination Program Update 
 

 
 This memorandum will provide you with information on the Litigation Coordination 
Program’s new case activity since your last regular meeting On January 18, 2018.  Recent 
CSAC court filings are available on CSAC’s website at: http://www.csac.counties.org/csac-
litigation-coordination-program.  The following jurisdictions are receiving amicus support in 
the new cases described in this report: 
 

COUNTIES CITIES OTHER AGENCIES 

Amador 
El Dorado 
Mariposa 
Maui, HI 
Orange County 
Orange County DA 
Riverside  
Sacramento 
San Franciso 
San Luis Obispo 
San Mateo 
Santa Clara 
Sonoma 

Burbank 
Covina 
Hermosa Beach 
Los Angeles 
Newport Beach 
Oakland 
San Diego 
Santa Monica 

22d Agricultural District 
Calif Dept of Public Health 
Calif School Boards Assn 
Marin Municipal Water District 
Sacramento Metro Cable TV  Comm’n 
Santa Clara Valley Transp. Authority 
S. Calif. Regional Rail Assn 

 
Abbott Laboratories v. Superior Court 
24 Cal.App.5th 1 (4th Dist. Div. 1 May 31, 2018)(D072577), petition for rehearing denied 

(June 27, 2018) 
Status: Petition for Review to be Filed in Late July 
The Fourth Appellate District has held that when a District Attorney brings an action under 
the California Unfair Competition Law (UCL), the DA can only seek and recover restitution 
and civil penalty relief for violations occurring within the DA’s own county.  The DA does not 
have standing to seek and recover such remedies statewide.  In the case, the Orange County 
District Attorney filed an action against several pharmaceutical companies under the UCL 
alleging that they engaged in schemes to keep generic drugs off the market.  The trial court 
denied defendants’ efforts to strike portions of the complaint seeking restitution and 

 

http://www.csac.counties.org/csac-litigation-coordination-program
http://www.csac.counties.org/csac-litigation-coordination-program


31 | P a g e  
 

penalties for activities occurring outside of Orange County.  But the Court of Appeal 
disagreed with the trial court, finding instead that allowing the DA to pursue statewide 
remedies would “permit the District Attorney to usurp the Attorney General’s statewide 
authority and impermissibly bind his sister district attorneys, precluding them from pursuing 
their own relief.”  The court concluded that “in the absence of written consent by the 
Attorney General and the other county district attorneys, the District Attorney must confine 
such monetary recovery to violations occurring within the county he serves.”  CSAC will file a 
letter in support of the Orange County District Attorney’s petition for Supreme Court review. 
 
Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians v. Riverside County 
Pending in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals (filed July 7, 2017)(17-56003) 
Status: Case Fully Briefed and Pending 

The Agua Caliente Tribe is challenging the ability of Riverside County to assess and 
collect possessory interest tax on non-tribal leasehold interests on tribal lands.  The Tribe 
argues that the tax, which is authorized by State law (Rev. & Tax., § 107.1), is preempted by 
federal law.   Specifically, the Tribe argues that the Indian Reorganization Act (IRA) preempts 
state and local taxes on tribal land.  The relevant language from that statute reads: “Title to 
any lands or rights acquired pursuant to this Act or the Act of July 28, 1955, . . . shall be 
taken in the name of the United States in trust for the Indian tribe or individual Indian for 
which the land is acquired, and such lands or rights shall be exempt from State and local 
taxation.”  CSAC will file a brief in support of Riverside County. 

 
Building Industry Association – Bay Area v. City of Oakland 
Pending in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals (filed Mar. 5, 2018)(18-15368) 
Status: Amicus Brief Due September 3, 2018 

This case is a constitutional challenge to the city’s public art ordinance, which 
requires residential and commercial development projects over a certain size to spend a 
specified percentage of building costs on public art installations.  Plaintiff argues the 
ordinance violates the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment, and that it compels speech in 
violation of the First Amendment.  The district court ruled in favor of the city on both 
counts.  First, the court found that the constitutional restrictions on exactions only to ad hoc 
conditions placed on individual developers, and not to legislation that is generally applicable 
to all developers.  As to the First Amendment claim, the court held that the ordinance, 
which requires no specific speech or message, and which contains an in lieu fee alternative, 
satisfies the applicable First Amendment scrutiny for such a regulation.  The BIA has 
appealed.  CSAC will file a brief in support of the City of Oakland. 
 
California Department of Public Health v. Superior Court (Exide Technologies) 
Writ Petition Denied by the First District Court of Appeal (May 30, 2018)(A154209) 
Status: Case Closed 

Exide Technologies submitted a Public Records Act (PRA) request to the California 
Department of Public Health (CDPH) requesting de-identified records regarding blood lead 
levels of people living in Los Angeles County, including people living near an old battery 
factory that was owned by Exide.  CDPH provided most of the requested records, which 
included information for 1.8 million blood tests and unique identifiers allowing Exide to 
know the age and location, among other things, of the individual tested.  However, CDPH 
declined to provide records that could allow Exide to re-identify the individual in the record, 
as well as records that would have required extensive data-analysis and the creation of new 
records (i.e., the information sought is not contained in existing records, but would have to 
be created).  Exide challenged the excluded records, and the trial court ruled in favor of 



32 | P a g e  
 

Exide.  The court first found that CDPH’s concerns that release of certain de-identified 
records would allow Exide to re-identify individuals were unfounded, and that disclosure 
would not violate California health privacy laws or HIPAA.  The court also held that there is 
not a “new record” exemption in the PRA.  To the contrary, the court held that the PRA may 
require a public agency to construct a record or perform data compilation or extraction to 
produce a public record.  CSAC filed a brief in support of CDPH’s writ, but the writ was 
denied. 
 
California Water Impact Network v. County of San Luis Obispo 
Unpublished Opinion of the Second Appellate District, 2018 Cal.App.Unpub.LEXIS 4406 (2d 
Dist. June 28, 2018)(B283846), request for publication pending (filed July 16, 2018) 
Status: Publication Request Pending 

Plaintiff challenged the county’s issuance of four water well construction permits.  
Under the county’s well construction ordinance, the county treats the issuance of all well 
permits as ministerial approvals.  Plaintiff alleges that these permit issuances are actually 
discretionary and therefore trigger CEQA review.  The trial court ruled in favor of the county, 
concluding that the limited discretion afforded to the county in its ordinance and 
Department of Water Resources Bulletins used as guidance in implementing the ordinance 
do not confer discretion to address environmental concerns, and therefore do not trigger 
CEQA.  On appeal, the Second District affirmed, concluding that the the county's ordinance 
provides no discretion to the county to impose water usage conditions on permit, or to 
shape a well permit to mitigate potential environmental damage arising from groundwater 
overuse, so CEQA does not apply.  CSAC filed a brief in support of San Luis Obispo County, 
and its publication request is pending. 
 
Comcast of Sacramento v. Sacramento Metropolitan Cable Television Commission 
Pending in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals (filed Sept. 20, 2017)(17-16923) 
Status: Fully Brief and Pending 

This case involves a dispute on how to calculate cable franchise fees following 
California’s adoption in 2006 of the Digital Infrastructure and Video Competition Act 
(DIVCA).  Under DIVCA, franchise-granting authority for video service was moved from local 
authorities (like defendant commission in this case) to the CPUC.  Plaintiff alleged that after 
it switched to a CPUC-issued franchise, it would continue to pay state franchise fees to 
defendant SMCTC as required by DIVCA, but would deduct its CPUC fees from the franchise 
fees paid to SMCTC.  Plaintiff also indicated that its gross revenue for purposes of calculating 
its franchise fee would not include payments it received from subscribers for public, 
educational, and governmental (PEG) fees.  The district court: (1) agreed with SMCTC that 
Comcast could not subtract its CPUC fees from the franchise fees paid to SMCTC; but (2) 
agreed with Comcast that PEG fees are not included in gross revenue for purposes of 
calculating the franchise fee.  CSAC filed a brief in support of SMCTC. 

 
County of Amador v. United States Dept of Interior 
872 F.3d 1012 (9th Cir. Oct. 6, 2017)(15-17253), rehearing en banc denied (Jan. 11, 2018), 
cert. petition pending (filed Apr. 13, 2018)(17-1432) 
Status: Case Fully Briefed and Pending 
In Carcieri v. Salazar, the Supreme Court held that the Secretary of the Department of 
Interior’s authority to take land into trust on behalf of “persons of Indian descent who are 
members of any recognized Indian tribe now under Federal jurisdiction” unambiguously 
refers to a tribe “under federal jurisdiction” on June 1, 1934, (the date the Indian 
Reorganization Act was adopted) rather than a tribe “under federal jurisdiction” at the time 



33 | P a g e  
 

the Secretary sought to take the land into trust.  This case involves the Ione Band, which was 
not a recognized tribe in 1934.  Nevertheless, in 2012, DOI took land into trust for the Ione 
Band and granted them rights to build a casino gaming complex.  The DOI takes the position 
that “recognition” of a tribe (unlike jurisdiction) need not have necessarily existed in 1934, 
but that subsequent “recognition” is sufficient.  DOI also interprets the phrase “under 
federal jurisdiction” to mean that prior to 1934 the government had “taken an action or 
series of actions through a course of dealings or other relevant acts for or on behalf of the 
tribe or in some instance tribal members that are sufficient to establish, or that generally 
reflect federal obligations, duties, responsibility for or authority over the tribe by the 
Federal Government.”  Amador County challenged DOI’s action, but the Ninth Circuit, ruled 
against the county.  CSAC has filed a brief in support of the county’s request for US Supreme 
Court review. 
 
County of Sonoma v. Jensen 
Unpublished Opinion of the First Appellate District, 2018 Cal.App.Unpub. LEXIS 3232 (1st 
Dist. May 9, 2018)(A151828), request for publication pending (filed June 1, 2018)(S249153) 
Status: Fully Briefed and Pending 

Defendant Jensen’s property violated the county’s code due to its junkyard 
conditions.  After an administrative hearing, Jensen was ordered to abate the property, and 
pay civil fines and administrative costs.  She lost her appeal to the federal court, and then 
her appeal to the state court.  After both appeals were final, the county filed the present 
action, obtaining from the trial court an order to enforce the original abatement order.  
Jensen appealed on the grounds that the county was barred by CCP section 426.30 
[compulsory cross complaints] and statutes of limitations.  The First Appellate District noted 
there was no state law on point, and looked instead to Audubon Life Ins. 6 Co. v. F.T.C. 
(M.D.La. 1982) 543 F.Supp. 1362, which held where Congress created a statutory framework 
delegating enforcement authority to an agency, that agency had discretion over the timing 
of such enforcement.  The court noted that similarly here, the county’s code states that “the 
enforcing officer or his or her designee shall be authorized to request that county counsel 
seek judicial enforcement of [an] administrative order.”  CSAC has requested publication. 
 
Covina Residents for Responsible Development v. City of Covina 
21 Cal.App.5th 712 (2d Dist. Feb. 28, 2018)(B279590), ordered published (Mar. 22, 2018) 
Status: Publication Request Granted; Case Closed 

This opinion involves a CEQA challenge to the city’s approval of an in-fill project (68 
units, mixed use, ¼ mile from commuter rail station).  Plaintiff alleged that the project’s 
parking impacts required an EIR rather than a mitigated negative declaration.  The Court of 
Appeal concluded that Public Resources Code section   21099(d)(1) exempted the project’s 
parking impacts from the requirements of CEQA review, and therefore the city’s actions 
were proper.  Section 21099 exempts certain types of impacts in a “transit priority area” 
from CEQA review.  The court found there is very little question that section 21099 applies 
to this project, and rejected plaintiff’s attempt to apply cases that were decided before 
section 21099 was enacted.  CSAC’s publication request was granted pending. 
  



34 | P a g e  
 

 
California School Boards Association v. State of California 
19 Cal.App.5th 566 (1st Dist. Jan. 16, 2018 )(A148606), petition for rehearing denied (Feb. 7, 
2018), petition for review granted (Apr. 18, 2018)(S247266) 
Status: Amicus Brief Due September 19, 2018 

The First Appellate District has found that the Legislature meets it obligations to 
provide subventions to schools for mandated activities under article XIII B, section 6 of the 
California Constitution when it designates funding it already provides to school districts as 
offsetting revenue when reimbursing them for the costs of new state-mandated programs.  
The court concluded that Government Code section 17557, which authorizes using 
“offsetting” revenue in this way, does not violate article XIII B, section 6.  The court rejected 
CSBA’s argument that section 17557 unconstitutionally “allows the State to identify 
‘offsetting revenues’ that will reduce or eliminate its mandate debt even if no new or 
additional funds are actually provided,” or require schools to divert money from other 
programs to pay for state mandates.  Instead, the court determined that using offsetting 
revenues to pay for state mandates does not require schools to use their local revenue to 
pay for programs, so there is no conflict with the constitutional requirement to provide 
subventions.  CSBA’s petition for Supreme Court review, which CSAC supported, was 
granted.  CSAC will file an amicus brief on the merits this fall. 

 
City of Oakland v. Superior Court (Gregory) 
Pending in the First Appellate District (filed July 1, 2018)(A154686) 
Status: Fully Briefed and Pending 

This case relates to the “Ghost Ship” fire in the City of Oakland.  In the case, 
plaintiffs alleged that the City had notice that the building was substandard and dangerous, 
and the City therefore had a mandatory duty to abate the code violations in the building.  
Plaintiffs also allege that because the City was put on notice of the conditions by citizen 
complaints, and through police and fire department interactions with the tenants, the 
statutory inspection immunity does not apply to bar liability for failure to abate the 
conditions or revoke the building’s certificate of occupancy.  The trial court ruled in favor of 
plaintiff, holding: (1) the City had a mandatory duty to abate substandard conditions; and (2) 
the City can only be excused from its mandatory duty where no City employee charged with 
enforcing building codes had notice of the substandard condition and the City can 
demonstrate that it exercised reasonable diligence.  CSAC filed a letter brief in support of 
the City’s writ petition. 
 
Daugherty v. City and County of San Francisco 
--- Cal.App.5th ---, 2018 Cal.App.LEXIS 576 (1st Dist. May 30, 2018)(A145863), ordered 
published (June 22, 2018), petition for review pending (filed July 10, 2018)(S249886) 
Status: Petition for Review Pending 

This case involves an investigation conducted by the United States Attorney’s Office 
into alleged corruption within San Francisco’s police department.  Investigators, along with 
San Francisco police officers assigned to assist the federal investigators, discovered racist 
text messages between the officers.  But those messages were not released to the police 
department until after conclusion of the criminal corruption trial.  The city then initiated 
disciplinary proceedings against the officers responsible for the text messages.  The officers 
challenged the discipline arguing it was time barred.  The trial court agreed with the officers, 
concluding that the one year limitations period under POBOR began to run when the texts 
were initially discovered in the federal investigation – despite the wall in place between the 
investigators and the rest of the department – and not when they were turned over to the 



35 | P a g e  
 

department.  In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeal reversed, concluding that the 
one year statute of limitations did not begin to run until the messages were released to the 
police department because prior to that time, nobody with authority to initiate misconduct 
proceedings had access to them.  CSAC’s publication request was granted, but a Supreme 
Court petition is now pending. 
 
Davis v. Mariposa County 
Pending in the Fifth Appellate District (filed Jan. 12, 2017)(F074986) 
Status: Case Fully Briefed and Pending 

This is a Prop. 218 challenge to a fire assessment.  The assessment was capped at 
$80 per parcel, even though that is less than the full cost of the benefit, with county general 
fund paying for the remainder of the services.  Plaintiff, the former County Auditor, 
challenged the assessment, arguing: (1) fire services are necessarily general and therefore 
cannot be assessment-financed; (2) the county could not use discretionary revenues to 
assess for less than the full cost of the special benefit; and (3) the county cannot weigh 
votes in light of net assessment amounts that are reduced by discretionary revenues.  The 
trial court found in favor of the county.  CSAC filed a brief in support of Mariposa County on 
appeal. 
 
Georgetown Preservation Society v. County of El Dorado 
Pending in the Third Appellate District (filed June 8, 2017)(C084872) 
Status: Case Fully Briefed and Pending 

El Dorado County approved a Dollar General store in a commercial zone.  In 
compliance with a design overlay for the area, the county required the building to be 
constructed with a “gold rush era” design, and proceeded with a mitigated negative 
declaration.  Plaintiff challenged the project’s approval under CEQA, arguing that it had 
raised a fair argument that the project may have a significant effect on “objects of historic 
and aesthetic significance,” which requires the analysis of an EIR. The trial court agreed with 
plaintiff that an EIR was required based on potential aesthetic impacts. On appeal, the 
county argues that it is entitled to deference in its general plan consistency finding, and that 
such a finding precludes plaintiff’s argument on aesthetics.  The county also argues that 
even if the court disagrees on the general plan consistency finding, plaintiff’s reliance on 
unsubstantiated lay opinions fails to meet the fair argument standard.  CSAC will file a brief 
in support. 
 
Gordon v. County of Orange 
888 F.3d 1118 (9th Cir. Apr. 30, 2018)(16-56005), petition for rehearing en banc denied (June 
14, 2018) 
Status: Case Closed 

In 2016, the Ninth Circuit found that the “objective indifference” standard applies to 
Fourteenth Amendment failure to protect claims brought by pretrial detainees.  In the 
present case, the court has extended that standard to inadequate medical care claims.  In 
the case, plaintiff died while detained at the Orange County Jail from complications 
associated with heroine withdrawal.  This action followed alleging failure to provide 
adequate medical care under the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  The 
trial court ruled in favor of the county, finding that plaintiff lacked evidence showing 
defendants acted with “deliberate indifference” to plaintiff’s health and safety.  But the 
Ninth Circuit reversed, holding that a claimant “must only show that the force purposely or 
knowingly used [. . .] was objectively unreasonable” rather than a standard of subjective 



36 | P a g e  
 

indifference.  CSAC filed a brief in support of Orange County’s petition for rehearing, but the 
petition was denied. 
 
Hardesty v. Sacramento Air Quality Management District 
Pending in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals (filed Apr. 27, 2018)(18-15772) 
Status: Amicus Brief Due in October 2018 

This case involves a gravel mining operation that was out of compliance with county 
ordinances and State environmental laws.  The county began a code enforcement action 
that went through the county’s administrative appeals process, and ultimately required the 
county to go to court and obtain a temporary restraining order to prevent operation from 
continuing until it achieved compliance with applicable laws.  There were continued efforts 
by the County and state regulators to gain compliance for the next couple of years until 
plaintiff filed this lawsuit in federal court alleging that the County and other regulatory 
agencies unlawfully targeted plaintiff solely based on political pressure they faced from 
plaintiff’s gravel mining competitors.  Plaintiff argued that the County acted arbitrarily and 
capriciously in violation of Equal Protection and substantive and procedural due process, 
and that the County’s actions amounted to an unlawful seizure in violation of the Fourth 
Amendment.  Ultimately, a federal jury found in favor of plaintiff, awarding over $100 
million dollars in compensatory damages.  The County’s motions for judgment 
notwithstanding verdict and a new trial were both denied. The County has appealed, and 
CSAC will file a brief in support. 

 
Hawaii Wildlife Fund v. County of Maui 
881 F.3d 754 (9th Cir. Feb. 1, 2018)(15-17447), petition for rehearing en banc denied (Mar. 
30, 2018) 
Status: Case Closed 

The County operates a wastewater treatment facility that releases treated 
wastewater into four underground injection control wells.  It is undisputed that wastewater 
from the wells moves through unconfined groundwater and eventually reaches the ocean.  
Plaintiffs filed this challenge under the federal Clean Water Act (CWA).  The district court 
found that the County violated the CWA because its treated wastewater reached navigable 
water without an NPDES permit.  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed, finding that 
the plain language of the CWA prohibits the discharge of pollutants from a point source to 
navigable waters regardless of whether the pollutant directly enters navigable waters or is 
indirectly conveyed to navigable waters through some other source.  Specifically, the court 
found that pollutants that are discharged to “waters of the United States” through 
groundwater or any other medium that is “fairly traceable” to a point source falls requires a 
CWA permit.  What is considered “fairly traceable” will almost certainly to the subject of 
future litigation, which the court essentially acknowledged in noting that it was saving “to 
another day the task of determining when, if ever, the connection between a point source 
and a navigable water is too tenuous.”   CSAC filed an amicus brief in support of Maui 
County’s petition for rehearing, but rehearing was denied and the case is now final. 
 
Homeaway v. City of Santa Monica 
Pending in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals (filed Mar. 21, 2018)(18-55367) 
Status: Fully Briefed and Pending 

To assist in its efforts to protect affordable housing, the city had for decades 
prohibited short-term rentals.  In 2015, the city eased that prohibition by allowing such 
rentals so long as at least one permanent resident remained onsite throughout the stay, and 
the host complied with applicable licensing and paid transient occupancy taxes.  The 2015 



37 | P a g e  
 

ordinance prohibited online booking companies, like plaintiffs, from completing bookings 
with unlicensed properties.  Online rental companies Homeaway and AirBnB challenged the 
ordinance in federal court.  The district court ruled in favor of the city, finding there is no 
merit to plaintiffs’ claims under the Communications Decency Act (CDA) or the First 
Amendment; and that the city’s constitutional land use authority was not displaced by the 
Coastal Act.  On appeal, plaintiffs argue: (1) the CDA preempts the ordinance because it 
protects websites facilitating third party transactions; (2) the First Amendment precludes 
the city from regulating plaintiffs’ conduct; and (3) the Coastal Act requires the city to obtain 
approval from the Coastal Commission for every legislative act within the coastal zone.  
CSAC has filed a brief in support of the city. 
 
In re: FCC, In the Matter of Restoring Internet Freedom 
Pending in the District of Columbia Circuit Court of Appeals (No. 18-1088)(Consolidated Mar. 
8, 2018) 
Status: Amicus Brief Due August 27, 2018 

Santa Clara County is a petitioner in one of several cases that have been 
consolidated in the DC Circuit Court asking for review of the “net neutrality” regulations 
adopted by the Federal Communications Commission earlier this year.  As you know, the 
FCC adopted net neutrality orders in 2015 that required internet providers to give all 
content the same service through their systems, and prohibiting them from blocking or 
slowing down specific content.  Last year, the FCC reversed course, and published its final 
new rule on February 18, 2018.  Under the new rule, internet providers can, for example, 
allow some companies to pay for priority treatment on broadband networks.  Santa Clara 
County has petitioned for review of the new rule.  CSAC will join a local government 
coalition asking the court to address the unintended impacts on public agencies. 

 
Johnston v. City of Hermosa Beach 
Unpublished Opinion of the Second Appellate District, 2018 Cal.App.Unpub.LEXIS 381 (2d 
Dist. Jan. 17, 2018)(B278424), request for publication denied (Apr. 11, 2018)(S247058), 
petition for review denied (Apr. 11, 2018)(S247058) 
Status: Case Closed 

The Second Appellate District, in an unpublished opinion, has found that the Coastal 
Act does not preempt a local ordinance prohibiting short term vacation rentals.  Plaintiff 
argued that the Coastal Act prevented the city from adopting such an ordinance without 
seeking approval of the Coastal Commission.  The Second District disagreed, concluding that 
the ordinance was enacted pursuant to the city’s police power, and is not considered 
“development” that falls under the auspices of the Coastal Commission.  The court further 
concluded that the absence of a certified Local Coastal Plan did not eliminate the city’s 
ability to enact and amend zoning ordinances.  CSAC’s publication request was denied. 
 
LA Park La Brea A v. Airbnb 
Pending in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals (filed Jan. 26, 2018)(18-55113) 
Status: Fully Briefed and Pending 

Plaintiff owns apartment buildings with rental agreements prohibiting short term 
rentals due to the noise and safety concerns for the other residents of the building.  Plaintiff 
brought this action against Airbnb, alleging among other things intentional interference with 
the leases caused by Airbnb’s listing of apartments in plaintiff’s buildings for short term 
leasing.  The district court granted Airbnb’s motion to dismiss, concluding that section 230 
of the Communications Decency Act immunizes Airbnb from liability for its role in brokering 
those vacation rentals.  Plaintiff has appealed.  CSAC has filed a brief urging the court to 



38 | P a g e  
 

adopt an interpretation of the CDA that does not allow shared economy online platforms to 
facilitate and profit from unlawful conduct. 
 
Los Angeles Times v. Southern Calif. Regional Rail Assn. 
Pending in the Second Appellate District (filed Jan. 12, 2017)(B280021) 
Status: Case Fully Briefed and Pending 

Following a train derailment, Metrolink retained an expert consultant who identified 
a potential flaw in the cab car of the derailed train that could also be present in other trains 
that Metrolink was then operating.  Metrolink convened an emergency teleconference of its 
Board, which included a closed session.  Electronic notice of the meeting was provided to all 
persons who had requested it about one hour in advance, though the call-in locations of the 
Board members was not known, and therefore not placed on the agenda.  Plaintiff filed a 
writ petition alleging Brown Act violations, including: (1) providing less than 24 hours notice 
of the meeting; (2) erroneously closing the meeting to the public; and (3) failing to meet the 
teleconference meeting requirements.  The trial court denied the writ, finding that the 
emergency meeting was justified because the statutory provisions are broad enough to 
encompass a potential security threat to a public transportation service.  The court also 
concluded that compliance with the teleconference meeting requirements is not needed for 
emergency meetings.  The LA Times has appealed.  CSAC will file a brief in support of 
Metrolink. 
 
Lopez v. Gelhaus 
871 F.3d 998 (9th Cir. Sept. 22, 2017)(16-15175), petition for rehearing denied (Dec. 22, 
2017), petition for certiorari denied (June 25, 2018)(17-1354) 
Status: Case Closed 

In a 2-1 decision, the Ninth Circuit denied qualified immunity to an officer involved 
in a shooting death of a minor, Andy Lopez.  Lopez was carrying what appeared to be an AK-
47 down the street in the middle of the afternoon.  The officer on patrol with his partner 
chirped the siren in their car, pulled off to the side of the road, opened the car door and 
ordered Lopez to drop the weapon.  Lopez turned toward the officers with the gun still in his 
hand, at which point the officer shot at Lopez, mortally wounding him.  Afterwards, the 
officers learned the “gun” was not an AK-47, but a toy gun.  Lopez’s estate brought this 
Fourth Amendment case against the officer who fired the shot and Sonoma County.  The 
district court denied the county’s motion for summary judgment based on qualified 
immunity, and the Ninth Circuit affirmed.  Noting prior case law stating that summary 
judgment should be granted sparingly in excessive force cases, the court reviewed the facts 
and found that, viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, a reasonable jury 
could find a Fourth Amendment violation.  The court also concluded the right was clearly 
established at the time of the incident.   

A vigorous dissent by Circuit Judge Wallace noted that the only fact that is relevant 
is the district court’s finding that the “gun” was in upward motion as Lopez turned toward 
the officer.  Under those circumstances, the dissent concludes the officer is entitled to 
qualified immunity notwithstanding the fact that in retrospect, the officers were in no 
danger.  The dissent also argues that the majority opinion changes the rule from “taking 
facts in a light most favorable to the non-moving party” to “we must accept as true all facts 
not conclusively disproved by evidence in the record even if those facts have no evidentiary 
support of its own,” which the dissent views as “plainly wrong.”  CSAC supported Sonoma 
County’s rehearing en banc and petition for US Supreme Court review, but both were 
denied. 
 



39 | P a g e  
 

Morales v. 22d Agricultural District 
Pending in the Fourth District, Division One (filed June 29, 2017)(D072378) 
Status: Fully Briefed and Pending 

The 22nd District Agricultural Association (DAA) is a California state agency that 
owns and manages the Del Mar Fairgrounds.  Plaintiffs are seasonal employees of DAA, who 
allege that DAA violated California’s overtime laws.  Though plaintiffs acknowledge that the 
overtime laws do not apply to public entities, plaintiffs nevertheless allege liability based on 
a joint employer theory, arguing that when the DAA loans its employees to outside 
promoters to support “interim events” (such as expos, private parties, weddings, etc.) and 
charges the outside promoters the labor costs of employing the employees, the Labor Code 
provisions apply.  The trial court ruled in favor of DAA, concluding that the joint employer 
doctrine does not extend California’s overtime laws when a joint employer is otherwise 
exempt from those laws.  CSAC will file a brief in support of the district on appeal. 
 
Nehad v. Zimmerman 
Pending in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals (filed Jan. 23, 2018)(18-55035) 
Status: Amicus Brief Due August 27, 2018 

A City of San Diego police officer responded to a midnight 911 call from a store clerk 
about a man threatening him with a knife.  The officer found a man meeting the description, 
who was walking toward him with something shiny and silver.  The suspect continued to 
walk forward, ignoring commands to drop his weapon, until the officer shot the suspect.  It 
was later determined that the suspect was carrying a pen rather than a knife, though three 
witnesses confirmed that they heard the officer give the “drop it” command, and one 
confirmed the suspect had something shiny and silver that the witness thought could be a 
gun.    Plaintiff brought this action alleging violations of the Fourth and Fourteenth 
Amendments.  The district court found in favor of the officer, concluding that the officer did 
not violate the Fourth Amendment.  The court rejected plaintiff’s argument that the officer’s 
belief that his life was in danger was not reasonable because the “weapon” was a pen, and 
not a knife.  The court found instead that objective facts in the record supported the 
officer’s belief that his life was in danger.  Plaintiff has appealed, and CSAC will file a brief in 
support of the city. 
 
Responsible Development for Water Tank Hill v. County of San Mateo 
Unpublished Opinion of the First Appellate Court, 2018 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 3453 (Cal. 
App. 1st Dist. May 18, 2018)(A150883), request for publication pending (filed July 7, 
2018)(S249416) 
Status: Publication Request Pending 

In 2016, San Mateo County approved a proposed housing development.  A group of 
county residents opposed the construction, claiming the County’s approval of the project 
violated CEQA and the Subdivision Map Act.  The trial court concluded the impact of the 
project was properly analyzed and the County’s mitigation decisions were supported by the 
evidence.  On appeal, the court gave a detailed description of the 14 year process the 
developers had engaged in with the County to meet the requirements of CEQA, focusing 
specifically on the method used to analyze the sound levels at the construction site.  In its 
analysis, the court stated the pertinent issue was whether substantial evidence supported 
the County’s finding that a mitigation measure would reduce noise at the site to a less than 
significant level, not whether it would completely eliminate noise.  Regarding anthropogenic 
greenhouse gasses emissions (“GHGs”), the court upheld the mitigation measure requiring 
the developer to purchase CO2e emissions reduction credits in the Final EIR approved by the 
County.  CSAC has requested publication of the opinion. 



40 | P a g e  
 

 
Ryan v. Fabela 
Pending in the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals (filed Feb. 12, 2018)(18-15232) 
Status: Amicus Brief Due July 22, 2018 

Plaintiff is a former at-will attorney with the Santa Clara Valley Transportation 
Authority.  He had poor relationships with his internal clients from his hiring in 2007, and 
was eventually terminated in 2015 after an employee of the Authority filed a 23-page claim 
alleging a lengthy course of harassment by plaintiff.  He sued on several grounds, but the 
only issue remaining on appeal is the claim that he was actually terminated because of a 
Facebook post containing political speech [a scathing post an Authority official] in violation 
of his First Amendment rights.  After the Authority’s General Counsel was denied qualified 
immunity, they filed this appeal, arguing: (1) the district court erred in determining, as a 
matter of law, that plaintiff’s First Amendment rights were violated; and (2) even if his rights 
were violated, it was not clearly established at the time of the termination that defendant 
was precluded from terminating plaintiff despite his refusal to correct his poor performance 
or follow numerous directives and warnings.  CSAC will file a brief in support of the 
Authority. 
 
 
Spencer v. City of Burbank 
Pending in the Second District Court of Appeal (filed Mar. 21, 2018)(B288874) 
Status: Amicus Brief Due October 8, 2018 
This case raises the same issue as another CSAC amicus case pending at the California 
Supreme Court, Citizens for Fair REU Rates v. City of Redding (S224779): Is a payment in lieu 
of taxes (PILOT) transferred from the city utility to the city general fund a "tax" under 
Proposition 26? In this case, the city operates a utility and each year transferred a 
percentage of funds from the utility to its general street and lighting funds.  The transfers 
where authorized by the city charter in the 1950’s and reapproved in 2007.  The cost of the 
street lighting transfer has been added to each bill as a separately listed surcharge.  The city 
adopts an annual rate schedule by resolution, which specifically states that the city is not 
reenacting any unchanged fee or charge.  Plaintiff filed a writ petition against the city 
challenging the transfers, arguing that they are proceeds of taxes that were not approved by 
the voters in violation of Propositions 26 and 218.  The city contended in response that 
Prop. 26 does not apply retroactively to the city’s pre-existing charges, but that even if Prop. 
26 does apply, the charges were approved by the voters when they adopted the city charter.  
The district court disagreed and granted the writ.  The city has appealed, and CSAC will file a 
brief in support. 
 
Vos v. City of Newport Beach 
892 F.3d 1094 (9th Cir. June 11, 2018)(16-56791), petition for rehearing en banc pending 
(filed June 22, 2018) 
Status: Fully Briefed and Pending 

Newport Beach City Police responded to a call that Vos was behaving erratically with 
a pair of scissors at a 7-Eleven.  While he was alone inside of the store, the eight officers at 
the scene discussed non- and low-lethal options for resolving the situation, but then Vos 
charged the doorway with the scissors over his head.  One officer fired non-lethal rounds, 
and two officers fired lethal gun shots, causing his death.  Vos’s parents brought suit against 
the City and three officers alleging excessive force in violation of the Fourth Amendment 
and violation Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act based on Vos’s schizophrenia.  
The trial court granted summary judgment on all claims in favor of the City. In a 2-1 decision, 



41 | P a g e  
 

the Ninth Circuit ruled against the City on the Fourth Amendment claim, concluding that the 
trial court neglected to consider additional factors (tactics prior to confrontation, diminished 
interest in using deadly force due to suspect’s mental illness, whether proper warnings were 
given).  Additionally, in an issue on which there are conflicting opinions in this State, the 
Ninth Circuit found that the ADA requires a consideration of whether the officers could have 
provided further accommodation of Vos’s disability, including de-escalation, 
communication, or specialized help.  The court acknowledged that the officers did nothing 
to provoke Vos’s behavior, but found that an officer’s duty to accommodate is not limited to 
situations in which the officer provokes the individual’s behavior.  CSAC has filed a brief in 
support of the city’s petition for rehearing en banc, which is pending. 
 
Walker v. Marin Municipal Water District 
Pending in the First Appellate District (filed Aug. 4, 2017)(A152048) 
Status: Fully Briefed and Pending 

Plaintiff brought this Prop. 218 challenge against the water district’s rate 
ordinances, but did not attend any public hearings or file a written protest to the district’s 
proposed rate ordinances before seeking judicial review.  The trial court initially found that 
plaintiff failed to exhaust her administrative remedies.  But following the Fourth District’s 
opinion in Plantier v. Ramona Municipal Water District (2017) 12 Cal.App.5th 856 [another 
CSAC amicus case, which is now pending at the California Supreme Court], the trial court 
vacated its original judgment and granted a new trial.  That order is now pending on appeal, 
and CSAC will file a brief in support of the water district. 

 
Youth for Environmental Justice v. City of Los Angeles 
Pending in the Second Appellate District (filed May 31, 2017)(B282822) 
Status: Brief Due September 30, 2018 

Two environmental groups sued the City of Los Angeles under CEQA, challenging the 
city’s policies for processing oil drilling permits.  After the city revised its policies for 
processing and reviewing discretionary oil permits, plaintiffs and the city reached a 
settlement under which the plaintiffs agreed to dismiss the lawsuit in exchange for costs.  
While settlement negotiations were underway, the California Independent Petroleum 
Association (CIPA) was granted permission to intervene in the lawsuit.  CIPA filed a 
countersuit, alleging that the new policies violated its constitutional due process.  The 
nonprofit plaintiffs and the city filed an anti-SLAPP motion, which the trial court denied, 
finding: (1) government action to implement settlement agreements are not protected 
speech for anti-SLAPP purposes; and (2) because the policy changes precipitating the 
settlement agreement change the way the city addresses potential future modifications to 
existing oil drilling permits, CIPA made a prima facie showing of infringement of its due 
process rights.  The nonprofits and the city have appealed, and CSAC will file a brief in 
support.  

 
  



42 | P a g e  
 

 



43 | P a g e  
 

 



44 | P a g e  
 

 



45 | P a g e  
 

 



46 | P a g e  
 

 



47 | P a g e  
 

 



48 | P a g e  
 

 



49 | P a g e  
 

 



50 | P a g e  
 

2018 CSAC Calendar of Events 
Executive Committee 

 

January          
3 Urban Counties of California (UCC) Board Conference Call 
11 California Association of County Executives (CACE) Business Meeting, Sacramento 
17  CSAC Executive Committee Orientation Dinner, Sacramento 

6:30pm Reception, 7:15pm Dinner, Esquire Grill, 13th & K Streets, Sacramento 
17 Rural County Representatives of California (RCRC) Board Meeting & Installation of Officers 

Reception, Sacramento 
18  CSAC Executive Committee Meeting, Sacramento 

10:00am – 1:30pm, Hyatt Regency, 1209 L Street, Sacramento 
29 Urban Counties of California (UCC) Board Conference Call 
31-Feb. 2   CSAC Premier Corporate Partner Forum, San Diego County 
 
February  
15 CSAC Board of Directors Meeting, Sacramento 

10:00am – 1:30pm, Capitol Event Center, 1020 11th Street, 2nd Floor, Sacramento 
26 Urban Counties of California (UCC) Board Conference Call 
 
March 
3-7  NACo Legislative Conference, Washington, D.C. 
14 Rural County Representatives of California (RCRC) Board Meeting, Sacramento 
26 Urban Counties of California (UCC) Board Conference Call 
 
April  
5 CSAC Executive Committee Meeting, Sacramento 

10:00am – 5:30pm, Capitol Event Center, 1020 11th Street, 2nd Floor, Sacramento 
23 Urban Counties of California (UCC) Board Conference Call 
25-26 Rural County Representatives of California (RCRC) Board Meeting, Humboldt County  
 
May 
16 Urban Counties of California (UCC) Board Meeting, Sacramento 
16-17 CSAC Legislative Conference, Sacramento 
17 CSAC Board of Directors Meeting, Sacramento 

12:30pm – 4:00pm, Sacramento Convention Center, 1400 J St, Sacramento 
23-25  NACo Western Interstate Region Conference, Blaine County/Sun Valley, Idaho  
 
June 
20 Rural County Representatives of California (RCRC) Board Meeting, Sacramento 
 
July  
13-16  NACo Annual Conference, Gaylord Opryland, Davidson County/Nashville, Tennessee  
23 Urban Counties of California (UCC) Board Conference Call 
 
August 
2  CSAC Executive Committee Meeting, Sacramento 

10:00am – 1:30pm, Capitol Event Center, 1020 11th Street, 2nd Floor, Sacramento 
15 Rural County Representatives of California (RCRC) Board Meeting, Sacramento 
27 Urban Counties of California (UCC) Board Conference Call 



51 | P a g e  
 

 
September 
6  CSAC Board of Directors Meeting, Sacramento 

10:00am – 1:30pm, Capitol Event Center, 1020 11th Street, 2nd Floor, Sacramento 
19-21 Rural County Representatives of California (RCRC) Annual Meeting, Napa County 
25 Urban Counties of California (UCC) Board Conference Call 
26-27 CSAC Regional Meeting, Location TBD 
 
 
October 
3-5  CSAC Executive Committee Retreat, Location TBD 
22 Urban Counties of California (UCC) Board Conference Call 
24-26 California Association of County Executives (CACE) Annual Meeting, Monterey County 
 
November  
27-30 CSAC 124th Annual Meeting, San Diego County 
28 Urban Counties of California (UCC) Board Meeting, San Diego County 
29 CSAC Board of Directors Meeting, San Diego County 

2:00pm – 4:00pm, Marriott Marquis San Diego, 333 West Harbor Drive, San Diego 
 

December 
5 Rural County Representatives of California (RCRC) Board Meeting, Sacramento 
12-14 CSAC Officers’ Retreat, Napa County 
 

 


	1. Roll Call

	2. Approval of Minutes from May 2, 2018 Meeting

	3. Wildfire Liability Issue

	4. Water Bond Initiative

	5. Proposition 5

	7. CSAC Finance Corporation Update

	8. CSAC Legislative Update

	Proposition 6

	2018 Statewide Propositions


	9. CSAC Operations & Member Services Update

	10. California Counties Foundation Update

	11. Information Items

	CSAC Litigation Coordination Program Report

	CSAC Institute Class Schedule


	2018 CSAC Calendar of Events - Executive Committee


